
1

CABINET 
Thursday 13 June 2019

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held 
on 11 April 2019 (Pages 1 - 4)
To agree the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 11 April 2019 
as an accurate record.

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 10 
June 2019 
To follow

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage.

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Land at Stone Lodge - Appropriation for Planning Purposes 
(Pages 5 - 16)
Summary:
 
To seek authority to: 
 

(a)  an ‘in principle’ decision to appropriate the land at Stone Lodge for 
planning purposes;

 
(b)   advertise in a local newspaper, the Council’s intention to 

appropriate ‘open space land’ to another purpose; and
 

(c)  subject to the consideration of any representations received 



2

following the advertisement, to formalise the appropriation of the 
land.

 
Recommendations:
 
1.  That, for the reasons outlined in the body of the report, Cabinet 

agrees in principle that it is no longer necessary to hold the land at 
Stone Lodge (edged red on the plan at Appendix A to the report) 
for the purposes for which it is currently held (i.e. recreational 
purposes) and that it is therefore minded to exercise the Council’s 
statutory powers pursuant to sections 122(1) and (2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 to appropriate the land at Stone Lodge for 
planning purposes (within the meaning of section 246(1) of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990); and 

 
2.  That the Managing Director be granted delegated authority to 

advertise the Council’s intention to appropriate ‘open space land’ 
at Stone Lodge to another purpose and that in the event of no 
objections being received, the Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Head of Legal Services, be authorised to take all 
necessary action to formalise the appropriation of the land at 
Stone Lodge for planning purposes.

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

None at this stage.

C - Items for Information, Noting, Endorsing

8. Street Naming and Numbering - Eastern Quarry Phase 6B 
(Pages 17 - 20)
Summary:
 
To approve five new road names on Phase 6B at the Eastern Quarry 
development.
 
Recommendation:
 
That the Cabinet approves Betts, Boyce, Lancaster, Robins and 
Thomas as the five new road names on Phase 6B at the Eastern 
Quarry development.
 

  



3

9. Dartford Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 - May 2019 Report 
(Pages 21 - 46)
Summary:
 
To consider the May 2019 report on progress made around Home 
Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty in Dartford.
 
Recommendation:
 
That the content of the May 2019 progress report attached at 
Appendix A to the report be noted.

10. Corporate Plan Key Actions and Performance Indicators Report - 
4th Quarter (Pages 47 - 66)
Summary:
 
To consider the Corporate Plan key actions and performance 
indicators for quarter 4 of 2018/19.
 
Recommendation:
 
That the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B to the report be 
noted.





1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 11 April 2019 at 7.00 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

137. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

The Chairman welcomed Mrs Doreen Coleman to the meeting, which would 
be Councillor P F Coleman’s last Cabinet meeting after an illustrious career of 
service on the Council dating back 43 years.

There were no apologies for absence.

138. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

139. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 7 MARCH 2019 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 7 March 2019 be 
confirmed as an accurate record.

140. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

141. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 8 APRIL 2019 

No items had been drawn down for consideration by the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel and the meeting had therefore been cancelled.

142. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.



CABINET
THURSDAY 11 APRIL 2019

2

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

143. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - LAND AT THE JUNCTION OF 
CRAYLANDS LANE AND LONDON ROAD 

The Cabinet received a report which proposed that two new roads, which 
were part of the development at the junction of Craylands Lane and London 
Road, should be named Bazley and Cresswell. The proposed names, which 
tied in with existing street names in the area and maintained a historic link, 
had been subject to consultation with Members, Emergency Services, Royal 
Mail, the local Parish Council, Kent Police and the developer. The names 
complied with the Council’s policy on Street Naming and the responses to the 
consultation received from Members, Kent Police and Royal Mail favoured the 
proposed names. There had been no further responses to the consultation. 

RESOLVED:

That the two new road names for the development at the junction of 
Craylands Lane and London Road be approved as Bazley and Cresswell.

144. ACTION UNDER SO 38:  A2 BEAN AND EBBSFLEET JUNCTION 
IMPROVEMENTS: ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT, SIDE 
ROAD ORDERS, COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDERS AND SLIP ROAD 
AND ROUNDABOUT ORDERS 

The Cabinet considered a report which detailed delegated action taken by the 
Managing Direction under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in consultation with the 
Cabinet Chairman, to submit the Council’s response to the Highways England 
consultation on proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet road 
junctions. Urgent action was required in order to submit a response by the 28 
March 2019 deadline for responding to the consultation. 

RESOLVED:

1. That the Cabinet:

(i) notes the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in 
relation to the Council’s response to the Highways England 
consultation on proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and 
Ebbsfleet junctions;

(ii) grants delegated authority to the Head of Regeneration and the 
Development Manager to represent the Council’s case with 
regard to the Public Inquiry into the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet 
junction improvements, limited specifically to Highways Act 1980 
matters, including agreeing a Statement of Common Ground 
with Highways England and any ancillary matters arising from 
the Council’s response to the consultation, but excluding 
matters related to the compulsory purchase of part of Council 
owned land at Spirits Rest Horse Sanctuary; and 



CABINET
THURSDAY 11 APRIL 2019

3

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

2. That a report be presented to Cabinet in due course, on the compulsory 
purchase of part of Council owned land at Spirits Rest Horse Sanctuary, 
dealing specifically with the compensation elements and the relocation of 
the displaced tenant’s animals to alternative grazing land in the Borough.

145. COUNCILLOR P F COLEMAN 

In closing the Cabinet meeting, the Chairman reflected upon Councillor 
Coleman’s service to the Council which had begun in 1976. He thanked 
Councillor Coleman for his enormous contribution to the Council and the 
people of Dartford, during which time he had served as Deputy Group Leader 
among other senior roles.

Councillor Coleman reflected upon his time as a local Councillor, the many 
characters that he had worked with and the changes that he had seen 
throughout that time and thanked Members and Officers for their support over 
the years.     

The meeting closed at 7.07 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN





CABINET 
13 JUNE 2019

D:\apps\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\2\AI00031256\$v2jkvwhk.doc

LAND AT STONE LODGE – APPROPRIATION FOR PLANNING 
PURPOSES

Ward: Stone

Key Decision

The appropriation for planning purposes of the land at Stone Lodge is of such 
significance to the locality that the Managing Director is of the opinion that it 
should be treated as a key decision.

1. Summary

1.1 To seek authority to: 

(a) an ‘in principle’ decision to appropriate the land at Stone Lodge for planning 
purposes;

(b) advertise in a local newspaper, the Council’s intention to appropriate ‘open 
space land’ to another purpose; and

(c) subject to the consideration of any representations received following the 
advertisement, to formalise the appropriation of the land.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That, for the reasons outlined in the body of the report, Cabinet agrees in principle 
that it is no longer necessary to hold the land at Stone Lodge (edged red on the plan 
at Appendix A to the report) for the purposes for which it is currently held (i.e. 
recreational purposes) and that it is therefore minded to exercise the Council’s 
statutory powers pursuant to sections 122(1) and (2A) of the Local Government Act 
1972 to appropriate the land at Stone Lodge for planning purposes (within the 
meaning of section 246(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990).

2.2 That the Managing Director be granted delegated authority to advertise the Council’s 
intention to appropriate ‘open space land’ at Stone Lodge to another purpose and 
that in the event of no objections being received, the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Head of Legal Services, be authorised to take all necessary 
action to formalise the appropriation of the land at Stone Lodge for planning 
purposes.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 Development Brief for Stone Lodge
The Stone Lodge Development Brief was agreed by the Council in 23July 2015 
[Min.No.18].  It aims to provide a flexible framework for guiding development on 



CABINET 
13 JUNE 2019

the site in the context of local plan policies.  It was prepared to assist in the 
assessment of submitted development proposals.

3.2 On 22 October 2015 [Min. No.58], Cabinet agreed to declare the land at Stone
Lodge surplus to requirements.

3.3 On 8 December 2016 [Min. No. 81], Cabinet agreed to dispose of no less than 
15 acres of land at Stone Lodge to the Secretary of State for the Department of 
Communities and Local Government (SoS), for a new 8-form entry secondary 
school. The land take was subsequently reduced to 7.7 acres (which includes a 
playing field) [Cabinet 2/11/2017:Min.No.60]. 

 
3.4 On 15 March 2018, planning permission [17/02105/FUL] was granted by the 

Development Control Board for the provision of a sports facility (rugby club) 
including a two storey clubhouses, two rugby pitches with 18m high floodlights, 
car parking, security fence, 6m high catch net, relocated substation and 
associated landscaping. 

3.5 On 24 May 2019, outline planning permission [18/01074/OUT] was granted by 
the Development Control Board for the erection of an 8 form entry secondary 
school, up to 140 residential dwellings in total across 2 sites and provision of 
19ha of public open space (all matters reserved except access).

3.6 The 32-hectare site at Stone Lodge (edged red on the plan at Appendix A) was 
acquired by the Council from the Secretary of State for Social Services 
pursuant to a conveyance dated 25 March 1972.  Clause 2 of the conveyance 
included the following covenants by the Council, intended to benefit adjoining 
land, which was then being retained by the Secretary of State:

a. not without the prior consent of the Vendor such consent not to be 
unreasonably withheld to use the land hereby conveyed other than for the 
purposes for which the local authority have power to acquire lay out and 
provide suitable buildings and use of land contained in the Physical 
Training and Recreations Act 1937;

b. not to erect any building or structure of any kind on the land hereby 
conveyed without the prior consent in writing of the Vendor such consent 
not to be unreasonably withheld;

c. to erect and forever after to maintain a 6 feet chain link fence on all 
boundaries separating the property hereby conveyed from the said Stone 
House Hospital Farmhouse Farm Bungalow and two staff houses which are 
retained by the Vendor with a 3 feet opening in such fence to allow access 
to the said Stone House Hospital Farmhouse through the farmyard from 
London Road Stone.

By a deed dated 16 March 1993, made between the Secretary of State for 
Health and the Council, the covenants shown as a. and b. above were 
expressed to be released.  However, at the time of the purported release, the 



CABINET 
13 JUNE 2019

Secretary of State no longer owned the adjoining land, which benefits from the 
covenants.   

The land in question is now owned by a wide number of individual homeowners 
to whom, insofar as they remain enforceable, the restrictive covenants might 
apply.

The law makes provision for such a circumstance where attempts to negotiate 
with all the landowners with the benefit of the restrictive covenants would not be 
feasible, since there is no way of knowing who all those landowners are. 
Accordingly, the Council intends to seek to rely on section 203 Housing and 
Planning Act 2016, which provides that if a local authority appropriates1 land 
for planning purposes, this will override any restrictive covenants that affect 
the land. 

Plainly, any party wishing to claim against a covenant would need to show that 
their land benefits from the covenants and that the value of their land has been 
diminished.  Any dispute arising from an application under section 204 Housing 
and Planning Act 2016 can be referred to the Upper Tribunal.

A number of conditions/limitations are placed on the exercise of the section 203 
power, which include inter alia, that planning permission must have been 
obtained for the building or maintenance work/use of the land.

3.7 As no previous appropriation has taken place, the land at Stone Lodge 
continues to be held by the Council for recreational purposes under Section 
19 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Purposes) Act 1976 (formerly 
section 4 of the Physical Training and Recreations Act 1937).

As the land at Stone Lodge is held for recreational purposes, in order to 
facilitate and implement the development proposals, the Council will need to 
rely on the statutory power to override third party rights (section 203 of the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016).  

A general power to appropriate land is conferred on the Council under section 
122(1) of the Local Government Act 1972, if the land is no longer required for 
the purpose for which it is currently held (i.e. recreational purposes).  There is 
no statutory requirement to advertise or consult on a proposal or decision to 
appropriate land for planning purposes under the general power contained in 
section 122.

When contemplating appropriation of land under section 122, the Council must 
give specific consideration to the question of whether the land is ‘no longer 
required’ for its current purposes.  Case law on section 122 establishes that 
the question of whether land is ‘no longer required’ is a question for the local 
authority rather than a court to determine, subject to Wednesbury principles of 
reasonableness or rationality.  The test is concerned with the relative needs for 

1 Appropriation is the statutory procedure to change the purpose for which land is held from one statutory purpose to another 
provided that the land is no longer required for the purpose for which it was held immediately before the appropriation



CABINET 
13 JUNE 2019

which land has been or might be put.  It does not require that the land should 
be unused or ‘surplus to requirements’ before section 122 can be relied on2.

3.8 The site currently consists of semi-natural grassland/heathland.  It is used as 
an informal green space by surrounding residents for general amenity use, in 
particular dog walking.  

3.9 The proposed development will retain the majority of the site as open space 
(19ha) through the creation of a multi-functioning green space, increasing its 
value for both the local community and wildlife and improving its accessibility.  It 
will be retained in its natural state as far as possible and habitats for bats and 
reptiles will be enhanced.  The diverted public right of way will be supplemented 
by new well-connected routes for pedestrians and cyclists, including facilitating 
a future link to Stone Crossing Station, enhancing existing networks.  Seating, 
signage/interpretation boards will be provided to enhance the usability of the 
space.

3.10 Part of the site is proposed to be used as a rugby club, a sport which is not 
currently provided for in the Borough.  The increasing population in the area 
and the demand from local sports clubs for premises to enable them to grow 
gives rise to a demand, which this proposal seeks to address.  The club will 
result in a more intensive recreational use of the land and wider community 
involvement.  

3.11 An eight-form secondary school with associated outdoor sports provision is to 
be provided on 3.2 ha of the site.  This need arises from the increasing 
population and a lack of suitable alternative sites to provide the facility.  With a 
significant amount of new housing development in the surrounding area, the 
site is well located to address the demand. The new secondary school will 
provide an important community and educational facility.

3.12 A small portion of the land, 3 ha in total, is to be provided for residential use. It 
will deliver 130 -140 homes, contributing to the Borough’s housing needs.  
Government guidance requires local authorities to ensure an adequate supply 
and choice of new homes to meet local needs.  30% of the new homes will be 
affordable, ensuring a mix of types and tenures are available for the 
community.

3.13 The current use of the land is as a low intensity open space in an urban area 
with many competing demands.  The retention of a high proportion of the open 
space will enable informal recreational needs to continue to be met, with 
enhancement of the space enabling more intensive use. Releasing the 
remainder of the site to other uses allows for provision of facilities for which 
there is a strong need and demand.  The site is centrally located in the urban 
part of Dartford and is well placed to be accessible to local people who will be 
using these facilities.  The provision of these uses is considered to outweigh the 
loss of part of the open space, particularly since qualitative improvements will 
be made to compensate for this loss.3.8 Open space as defined in section 

2 R.(on the application of Maries) v Merton LBC [2014] EWHC 2689 (Admin), referring to the Court of Appeal decision in Dowty 
Ltd v Wolverhampton Corporation No.2 [1976] 1 Ch 13.



CABINET 
13 JUNE 2019

336(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 includes any land used for 
the purposes of public recreation. 

The majority of Stone Lodge constitutes ‘open space land’.  There is a 
requirement under section 122(2A) of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
advertise the intention to appropriate ‘open space land’ to another purpose 
and to consider objections before deciding whether to do so.  The 
advertisement must appear in two consecutive weeks in a newspaper 
circulating in the area in which the site is situated. There is no prescribed form 
for the advertisement.  

Following the advertising process, if landowners with benefits of the rights 
affecting the land object to their rights being overridden, these objections will be 
considered by Cabinet and a final decision will be taken then.  If there are no 
objections by the deadline set for receipt of representations, then Cabinet is 
recommended to delegate to the Managing Director, in consultation with the 
Head of Legal Services, the formalisation of the appropriation process.

3.14 The use of appropriation power needs to be justified by a clear ‘public interest’ 
case that overrides the individual rights of potential affected third party owners 
and occupiers of nearby properties.

(a) Description of the proposed development and how it fits with the planning 
policy framework for the area

 
Use of the land for the purposes identified in paragraphs 3.8 to 3.13 above, is 
consistent with the Core Strategy 2011 (Local Plan) vision and policies. 

The Core Strategy envisages new communities, including at Stone, being 
strongly integrated with existing communities. This is to be achieved by the 
provision of new facilities including walking and cycling links, new schools and 
sports and leisure facilities. Excellent sports and leisure facilities and an 
extensive network of multifunctional green spaces will enable residents to enjoy 
their leisure time and lead healthy lifestyles.

Policy CS 22 which specifically relates to Stone Lodge identifies it as a site for 
sport and recreational uses.  It also allows for non-sporting development on part 
of the site to assist with economic viability of the sports proposals.   The housing 
and the school assist in this way.  The policy states that any development should 
include proposals for access to the facilities by community–based organisations 
and a management plan for the rugby club is required to enable this.

Core Strategy Policy CS10 provides for significant new housing to be delivered 
including at Stone, with up to 17,300 new home in the Borough.  Stone Lodge 
was identified through the Core Strategy as a housing site to help meet the 
requirement. Policy CS11 requires that the infrastructure to support 
development, including schools, is provided alongside the delivery of housing 
and provision of the school will achieve this.



CABINET 
13 JUNE 2019

(b) Description of how the development would contribute to the promotion of 
the economic, social and/or environmental well-being of the area

The development will contribute to the well-being of residents in the area by 
addressing affordable and other housing needs and by providing school, sporting 
and informal recreational facilities to support local residents in their daily lives.  It 
will promote their social well-being enabling them to live healthy lifestyles with 
educational needs being met. This will bring wider economic benefits to the area. 
The enhanced habitats on the site will promote the environmental well-being of 
the area.  The improved walking and cycling links and travel plan encouraging 
sustainable forms of travel to the school will benefit the environment by reducing 
air pollution from vehicles

(c) Impact on open space provision 

Although proposals such as the provision of sports rugby pitches and open 
recreational space attached to the school will continue to contribute to the open 
character of the site, the proposal does alter the ratio between land with a 
designated use and land that is informal.

The rugby club site comprising 4.2ha, for example, brings a designated use to 
formerly informal land but the site continues to be predominantly open in 
character – with sports pitches and parking at surface level.  The provision of a 
clubhouse and associated facilities bring significant benefits to the community 
and a broadening of quality and choices for leisure use.

Whilst the proposals will alter the balance between designated and informal land, 
a very significant amount of land, comprising 19ha, will remain informal.  The 
proposal is to enhance this land sensitively to encourage recreational activity 
such as dog-walking, rambling and family-centred appreciation of the natural 
environment and habitat.

(d) Impact on public right of way

The diverted public right of way will be supplemented by new well-connected 
routes for pedestrians and cyclists, including facilitating a future link to Stone 
Crossing Station, enhancing existing networks.

(e) Consideration of whether any interference with any third party rights would 
be justified and proportion in the light of public benefits, which would arise 
from the development proposals

Given the significant benefits referred to above, it is considered that there is a 
clear and compelling case in the public interest to pursue development protected 
from possible restraint by injunction (the only remedy being a claim for the loss of 
the covenant).  Appropriating the land for planning purposes will achieve that, 
while still enabling any interference with third party rights to be addressed. 



CABINET 
13 JUNE 2019

3.15 Any decision by the Council to appropriate land in the circumstances outlined in 
this report, should take account of the requirements of the Human Rights Act 
1998.  

Effects on neighbouring owners (even if they are considered minimal) and 
the public benefits of the development proposed

Rugby Club: The proposed clubhouse building, the floodlight structures and the 
catch net will be visible from the residential properties opposite.  However, 
changes to the view from these properties is likely to be of a low magnitude.  

The closest residential properties to the clubhouse are 120m away.  The 
proposed development has the potential to have noise impacts on these 
neighbouring properties.  However, mitigation measures have been agreed as 
part of the planning consent to minimise the impact on residents.  Whilst there 
may be some residual noise impact on residential properties, this will not be at 
unsociable hours. 

The proposed floodlights have been designed so that light spillage outside the 
application site is minimised.  There is potential for some potential glare from the 
floodlights but this is to be mitigated by provision of shuttering.

School, Housing and Open Space: As referred to in para. 3.5 above, an outline 
application [18/01074/OUT] for the remainder of the site has been approved with 
a linked Section 106 Agreement.  

Conditions have been imposed to control the impacts during construction, secure 
details of: the layout and design of the school; soft landscaping; parking; lighting; 
opening and closing times of the school and to encourage sustainable forms of 
transport. These conditions will ensure that there is a limited impact on 
residential properties within the vicinity.

There would be little impact from the open space as a very low level of activity is 
anticipated from its use which would be mainly for walkers and wildlife. 

The proposed residential use would be divided into two separate parcels of land.  
The larger residential parcel is located in the centre of the application site and 
close to the Bowls and Judo Club.   The impact on these uses would be limited 
as there would only be pedestrian traffic between the residential and club sites.  
The smaller residential parcel is located off London Road and lies opposite some 
residential properties.  Given the nature and width of London Road, traffic and 
any other impacts such as noise and visual, would be very limited.  

As against these limited impacts on neighbours which will be largely mitigated 
through planning conditions, there are significant public benefits arising from the 
proposals.  There will be wide community health and well-being benefits arising 
from the sports and recreational aspects of the scheme.  The secondary school 
will provide an essential educational facility to address the needs of the growing 



CABINET 
13 JUNE 2019

Dartford population.  The housing provision will meet much-needed affordable 
housing provision as well as wider market provision.  

Regard has been had to the extent to which the development proposals may 
impact upon the human rights of owners and residents that may be affected 
and to balance those against the overall benefits to the community and the 
regeneration of the area that the development will bring. Cabinet will need to be 
satisfied that interference with rights under Article 1 and Article 8 of the First 
Protocol to the European Convention on Human Rights is justified in all the 
circumstances and that a fair balance would be struck in the present case 
between the protection of rights of individuals and the public interest. Officers 
consider that the balance in this case weighs substantially in favour of the public 
interest.

3.16 In summary - The appropriation procedure is subject to compliance with the 
detailed requirements of the legislation and the Council being satisfied that any 
interference with third party rights would be proportionate and justified by the 
public interest in enabling the development to proceed. Provided that the land at 
Stone Lodge is validly appropriated for planning purposes, section 203 of the 
Housing and Planning Act of 2016 may be engaged. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of the 
Council’s communities.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications Whilst no costs are likely, some minor 
costs could arise from the appropriation 
if a remedy is sought for the loss of the 
covenant but these are currently 
unquantifiable

Legal Implications As discussed in the body of the report
Public Sector Equality Duty Not relevant at this stage
Crime & Disorder Duty Not relevant at this stage
Staffing Implications None
A administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment As discussed in the body of the report

6. Appendix

Appendix A – Plan of the land at Stone Lodge



CABINET 
13 JUNE 2019

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Stone Lodge 
appropriation 
for planning 
purposes

Marie Kelly-Stone Legal Services N/A





Appendix A





CABINET
13 June 2019

STREET NAMING & NUMBERING - Eastern Quarry Phase 6B

Ebbsfleet

1. Summary

1.1 To approve five new road names on Phase 6B at the Eastern Quarry 
development.

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That the five new road names for Phase 6B at the Eastern Quarry 
development be approved as Betts, Boyce, Lancaster, Robins and 
Thomas.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. This phase of the Eastern Quarry development is five new roads with a 
mix of flats and houses accessed from Castle Hill Drive.  The proposed 
names are historically linked to a local church.

3.2. The proposed names were submitted for consultation with a plan (as 
shown in Appendix A) to Members, Emergency Services, Royal Mail 
and the Developer on 20th March 2019.  The names comply with the 
Council’s policy on Street Naming.

3.3. Councillors Coleman, Mrs Thurlow, Mote, Lloyd and Kite all liked the 
names.  Kent Police and Royal Mail also had no objections to them

3.4. Councillor Shippam did not object to the names though felt it should be 
made clear that the names had a religious link.

3.5. There were no other responses.

3.6. Suitable suffixes will be chosen once the final road names have been 
approved

3.7. The Developer requires the name as soon as possible to ensure that 
the utilities are connected. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications It is open to the developer to object in the 
Magistrates’ Court to a street naming.  If the 
developer’s suggested names are in accord with 



CABINET
13 June 2019

Council Policy, it is likely that the Magistrates will 
rule in favour of the developer.

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Map showing proposed site Title of Document

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
Consulted

Date / 
File Ref

Report 
Author

Section and 
Directorate

Exempt 
Information 
Category

Street Naming and 
Numbering Guidance

Dec 2013 Samantha 
Eastwood

Property Information 
(Internal Services)

N/A



Conveyor

Drain

Drain

H:
\M

ap
s &

 Pl
an

s\M
ap

s b
efo

re 
PD

F'i
ng

\EQ
_C

on
su

lt_
6B

.m
xd

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 By

: s
ea

stw
oo

d O
n: 

27
/03

/20
19

 10
:44

 AM

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2018
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2018

Castle Hill Drive

Cherry Orchard

EQ Phase 6B
Consultation Plan
Appendix A

Flint Rise





CABINET
13 June 2019

DARTFORD HOME ENERGY CONSERVATION ACT 1995
MAY 2019 REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report outlines the revised version of the existing statutory guidance on 
the Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 (HECA) and the obligation on the 
Council to publish a report at two yearly intervals.

1.2 The May 2019 report at Appendix A covers the progress made around Home 
Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty in the District and answers specific 
questions asked  by the Government Department for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS).  The report also outlines new actions and how the 
Council  plans to measure progress.

1.3 The Report also outlines the recent changes around the Energy Company 
Obligation.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the content of the May 2019 progress report at Appendix A be noted. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Statutory guidance on the Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 was 
revised in 2013 placing a duty on councils to prepare and publish a report 
on energy conservation, particularly in relation to improving the 
efficiency of private rented properties.  A report was presented to 
Cabinet on 7 March 2013 where the contents were noted (Minute No 
166 refers).  A further report on progress was presented to Cabinet on 
16 April 2015 (Minute No 138 refers) where the contents were again 
noted.  In January 2017 further guidance was received and the Council’s 
2017 Home Energy Conservation Report was presented to Cabinet on 
13 April 2017 (Minute No 143 refers). 

3.2. In January 2019 all local authority chief executives received a letter from 
the Minister of State for Energy and Clean Growth outlining the HECA 
reporting process for 2019.  

          The refreshed reporting system follows a series of questions covering:

 What main strategy and schemes local authorities (LAs) currently 
have to promote carbon reduction and/or energy efficiency, 
stakeholders involved and impact at a social and economic level. 

 How LAs engage stakeholders (including consumers and businesses) 
to promote awareness of energy efficiency.



CABINET
13 June 2019

 How LAs engage local businesses involved in the promotion of energy 
savings products and the societal benefits along with any local 
economic impact this might have.

 How LAs enforce & promote awareness of the Private Rented Sector 
Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards that came into effect April 
2018. 

 Financial programmes used by LAs to promote energy efficiency. 
 How LAs identify those in fuel poverty and any initiatives used to 

address this.
 How LAs are using the recently introduced ECO flexible eligibility 

programme to refer certain households in fuel poverty or with 
occupants on low incomes, who are vulnerable to the effects of cold 
homes to ECO obligated suppliers for support. 

 How LAs promote awareness and uptake of smart metering.

For 2019 the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) is piloting the submission of reports via the digital platform Survey 
Monkey with a report submission deadline of 31 May 2019. 

The Council used the word document template provided by BEIS to 
gather the information.  The document  will be placed on the Council’s 
website and sent to BEIS too.  The Council’s response is at Appendix A 
to the report .

3.3. Currently there are a range of strategic documents, guidance and 
legislation covering the reduction of people living in fuel poverty as well 
as improving the quality of both new and existing housing stock and also 
considering the health impacts related to housing. 

These include:

 Energy Act 2011.
 Climate Change Act 2008.
 The Home Energy Conservation Act 1995.
 The UK Fuel Poverty Strategy 2015.
 The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (Housing Act 2004).
 The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2015.
 Govenrment’s Energy Company Obligation (ECO) Scheme
 Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards .

A revised UK Fuel Poverty Strategy will consulted on later in 2019 

Collectively, these have a number of emissions targets and reductions. 
In the last two years a number of initiatives have been developed or 
continued to take on board these legislative changes including:-

 Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership. 
 Kent Warm Home Scheme (including Home Heating Cost Reduction 

obligation (HHCRO/ECO Affordable Warmth Officer) and Local 
Authority Flexible Eligiblity.

 Better Care Funding.



CABINET
13 June 2019

 Kent Fuel Poverty Strategy.
 Kent Environment Strategy. 
 Kent Energy and Low Emissions Strategy (in draft stage at present).

SELEP and Local Action Plan.

 It should be noted that DBC is an active member of the Kent Energy 
Efficiency Partnership (KEEP) who received awards from South East 
Association of Local Authority Energy Officer for their work 
(September 2017)  along with recognition for their work in taking 
forward the Kent Environment Strategy (December 2017)

3.4 Energy Company Obligation (ECO) 3 and Local Authority Flexible 
Eligibility

The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) scheme is an obligation that 
the Government has placed on larger energy suppliers to install energy 
efficiency and heating measures to people’s homes in England, 
Scotland and Wales, subject to certain eligibility criteria.. 

The scheme includes an element called “Local Authority Flexible 
Eligibility” (LA Flex), and since December 2018, up to 25% of an 
energy supplier’s obligation can be allocated on a voluntary basis by 
suppliers working in partnerships with Local Authorities. Under LA Flex, 
Local Authorities may use a Statement of Intent (SOI) to establish 
additional eligibility for privately owned properties within its own area. 
This is intended to support energy efficiency improvements in 
properties where the households are either living in fuel poverty or 
living on low income and are vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold 
home, but which fall outside of the national eligibility criteria.

The Council has an LA Flex Statement of Intent (SOI) in place which 
enables it to make declarations for energy efficiency measures for 
Dartford residents (owner occupiers and private rented properties) who 
fulfil our criteria of living on a low income and with a health condition 
that is impacted by living in a cold home ie disability, heart condition, 
auto immune issues etc.,   LA Flex funding towards a measure is unlike 
previous schemes in that the resident shouldn’t be in receipt of a 
specific benefit.  If a resident is in receipt of a benefit a referral can still 
be made through the HHCRO/Affordable Warmth route. 

APRIL 2017 TO MARCH 2018.

No of 
measures

CERO 
funding

HHCRO 
funding

LA Flex 
funding

Council 
(Better 
Care 
Funding)

Client 
contribution 

Dartford Borough Council Generated Installs
Cavity 
Wall 
Insulation

5 £2,308.14 £856.79 0 0 £742.28



CABINET
13 June 2019

Heating 1 £1,704.32 £2,380.95
Loft 
Insulation

11 £1,281.73 £331.24 £516.88 £1,838.33

TOTAL 17 £3,589.87 £1,188.03 £2,221.20 £2,380.95 £2,580.61
Kent Warm Homes Generated Installs 
Cavity wall 
insulation

1 £1,431.97 £440.00

Heating 0
Loft 
insulation

5 £6,322.40 £2,813.96

TOTAL 6 £7,754.37 £3,253.96

APRIL 2018 TO MARCH 2019.

No of 
Measures

CERO 
funding

HHCRO 
funding

LA Flex 
funding

Council 
Better 
Care 
Funding

Client 
contribution

Dartford Borough Council Generated Installs
Cavity wall 
insulation

19 £1,729.46 £2,326.59 £18,557.28 0 £1,936.10

Heating 9 0 £2,526.77 £8,325.31 £19,604.89 £1,779.85
Loft 
Insulation

16 £444.30 £3,036.00 £4,769.73 £1,117.30

TOTAL £2,173.76 £7,889.36 £31,652.32 £19,604.89 £4,833.25
Kent Warm Homes Generated leads 
Cavity wall 
insulation

1 £393.84 £518.34

Heating 0
Loft 
insulation

2 £750.39 £518.34

Total £1,144.23 £1,036.68

3.5 Kent Warm Homes Scheme.
         The Kent Warm Homes Scheme is a partnership project between Kent County 

Council and district councils to support residents in Kent and Medway to save 
energy in their home and to drive housing retrofit by taking advantage of retrofit 
funding and finance options including Energy Company Obligation.  Kent and 
Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership (KMSEP) has appointed different 
ECO funded Providers to deliver retrofit to the domestic sector across the 
County.  The current Warm Homes contract takes the form of a framework 
agreement with different ‘lots’ covering delivery of works and the current 
schemes offered include delivery of the following energy efficiency measures:

         
 Cavity wall and Loft Insulation – for residents in receipt of 

benefits plus eligible residents under LA Flex criteria

 External Wall Insulation 



CABINET
13 June 2019

 Boiler Replacement

         The framework is available for use by all local authorities in Kent and Medway 
and the current provider for the different ‘Lots’ is Aran Services.  The 
framework is currently being reviewed by a small task and finish group 

3.6 Warm Homes Fund and SGN First Time Central Heating Support.
         Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP) on behalf of KMSEP has applied 

for Warm Home Funds several times during the last couple of years.  The 
Warm Homes Fund (monies via National Grid and administered by Affordable 
Warmth Solutions (AWS).  The funding is broadly split into 3 categories 
focussing on the following areas:

o Category 1: Urban – involved new gas heating systems to properties 
within 23m of a gas connection 

o Category 2: Rural – some of the most severely fuel poor households 
are those without a mains gas conenctionin rural locations – this 
category of funding primarily focussed on non gas solutions – air 
source heat pumps etc., 

o Category 3: Health Related Solutions – bringing together organisations 
to promote energy efficiency and/or health related programmes. 

For the second funding application KEEP’s application for Category 1 
and 3 reached interview stage, however, due to timing and location of 
interviews we were not able to attend the interview.  We submitted 
answers to questions but our application was unsuccessful.  

There is another funding round in August 2019 and an application may 
well be placed for a Kent wide project.

As part of the Warm Homes Fund application process KEEP managed 
to secure funding towards first time gas central heating installation from 
Southern Gas Networks (SGN) which will help towards costs for some 
gas connections and first time gas central heating installation. This will 
be subject to contractual arrangements between Kent LAs and SGN   

3.7 Better Care Funding 

In addition to providing the funding for the mandatory Disabled Facility 
Grant the Better Care Fund also allows for discretionary financial 
assistance to be provided by a Local Authority to enable residents to 
leave hospital and return to a suitable home environment; thus 
reducing bed blocking as well as staying safe and well in their homes. 
Dartford Borough Council receives Better Care Funding from the 
Government to enable it to assist vulnerable client groups. The Better 
Care Fund Discretionary Assistance Policy that will assist this client 
group, by allowing the Council to fully utilise its Better Care Funding 
was agreed a Cabinet 25 January 2018.  The Policy is also aimed at 
preventing admissions/readmissions to hospital by providing funding to 



CABINET
13 June 2019

eligible households for, for example, essential repairs or heating 
installation, which, if not carried out, may have a detrimental impact on 
their health and wellbeing.

The different Grants available to some residents at present include: 

Discretionary Assistance Grants: ‘Fast Track’ version of DFG:  
Urgently needed disabled aids/adaptations recommended by an 
Occupational Therapist up to £7500

Hospital Discharge Grants:  To help local residents being discharged 
from hospital up to £5000

Safe and Secure Grants (applicants must be 65 + OR have a 
specific ill health diagnosis/disability):  Up to £5000 Some of the 
items the funding may be able to help you with include: key safes, 
electrical rewiring, heating repair or renewal, home repairs, 
modifications to steps/floors or even moving furniture. 

These grants are available to owner occupied or privately rented properties 
and some to social housing tenants.  A number of the Borough’s residents 
have benefited from a blend of  LA Flex ECO funding  and a Safe and Secure 
Grant to provide central heating replacement to some very vulnerable 
residents.  

Grant figures for period April 2017 to March 2019.

2017 -2018 2018 - 2019 Total
Disabled 
Facilities Grant

39 28 67

Discretionary 
Assistance 
Grants

2 8 10

Safe and Secure 
Grants

0 8 8

Hospital 
discharge grants

41 2 43

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

This links to the following targets in the Corporate Plan:
ET 1 To reduce carbon emissions and improve air quality in the 
                      Borough.
ET2 To ensure that development in Dartford is sustainable with high 
                      standards of design, layout and energy/water efficiency.
HS2 To provide high quality housing services to strive to improve the 
                     quality and condition of the Borough’s private rented housing 
                      sector. 
HP1 The number of households taking part in home energy efficiency 
                      improvement programmes/works.



CABINET
13 June 2019

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments.

Financial Implications. Reduced emission and water usage from the 
Council’s own estate may assist in offsetting the 
rising cost of utilities provision 

Legal Implications.

Public Sector Equality 
Duty.

Crime and Disorder duty. 

The Council has a duty to produce a 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions report and a Home 
Energy Conservation Act Report 

N/A 

None

Staffing Implications. To be met within existing resources

Administrative 
Implications.

To be met within existing resources  

Risk Assessment. Not adapting to climate change may have health 
and safety implications for the Council and the 
public – flooding, heat waves, drought etc., and 
the Council’s ability to deliver services 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Appendix A: Progress Report on Home Energy 
Conservation work for reporting to BEIS 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Dartford Home Energy 
Conservation Act (1995)
March 2017 Report

Dartford Home Energy 
Conservation Act (1995)
March 2015 Report

Dartford Home Energy 
Conservation Act (1995) 

Cabinet 
April 
2017

Cabinet
April 
2015

Cabinet 
April 

Peter Dosad
(01322) 343327

Peter Dosad
(01322) 343327

Peter Dosad
(01322) 343327

External 
Services

External 
Services

External 
Services

N/A

N/A

N/A



CABINET
13 June 2019

March 2013 Report 2013



Appendix A

HECA REPORTING 2019
Introduction
The Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 (‘HECA’) requires all 326 local authorities (LAs) in 
England to submit reports to the Secretary of State demonstrating what energy conservation 
measures they have adopted to improve the energy efficiency of residential accommodation 
within that LAs area. This covers measures to improve properties in the owner-occupier, 
private rented sector, and social rented sector. BEIS uses data submitted through LAs HECA 
returns to inform policy thinking on energy efficiency, and to build an ongoing picture of local 
and national energy efficiency policy delivery. 

These guidance notes are issued in accordance with the Secretary of State’s powers under 
section 4 of the Act and are to alert LAs of amendments to the HECA reporting framework in 
advance of May 2019 when the next reports are due.  In previous years, reporting rates have 
been disappointing, with 282 reports submitted in March 2015 out of 326 LAs, and only 151 in 
March 2017. The refreshed reporting system for 2019 streamlines the process and reduces LA 
reporting burdens. Newly structured around a series of questions and direct information points, 
the amended framework aims to support LAs to provide information and updates on the key 
energy efficiency topics of interest to BEIS Ministers. It will also enable LAs to provide a 
consistent picture of energy efficiency promotion and delivery across England within a 
standardized framework. Following the principles of open data, the department may publish the 
information in an open data format to allow wider access and interpretation of the data, while 
ensuring that such publication complies with the terms of GDPR.

HECA 2019 Reporting Requirements
The Report is to be divided by sections to capture information on a range of key themes: 

Headline & Overview

 What main strategy and schemes LAs currently have to promote carbon reduction 
and/or energy efficiency, stakeholders involved and impact at a societal and economic 
level.

Communication

 How LA engage stakeholders (including consumers and businesses) to promote 
awareness of energy efficiency. 

Green Local Supply Chain

 How LAs engage local businesses involved in the promotion of energy savings products 
and the societal benefits alongside any local economic impact this might have.



Appendix A

Private Rental Sector Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards

 How LAs enforce and promote awareness of the PRS Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards that came into force in April 2018.

Financial Support for Energy Efficiency

 Financial programmes used by LAs to promote energy efficiency.

Fuel Poverty

 How LAs identify those in fuel poverty and any initiatives used to address this.

The Energy Company Obligation (ECO)

 How LAs are using the recently introduced ECO ‘flexible eligibility’ programme to refer 
certain households in fuel poverty or with occupants on low incomes, who are 
vulnerable to the effects of cold homes, to ECO obligated suppliers for support.

Smart Metering

 How LAs promote awareness and uptake of smart metering.

All questions are optional, but responses highly encouraged. While reporting is focused on 
energy savings related to homes, you are welcome to provide additional information on energy 
efficiency improvements in non-domestic properties, but this is fully optional. There will be a 
final free response section permitting local authorities to discuss any additional activities which 
they feel are relevant.

Submission of HECA 2019 Reports

For the 2019 reporting year, the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) is piloting the submission of reports via a digital platform, and for this year LAs will be 
asked to populate their HECA Report and submit materials via a SurveyMonkey submission. 
No other reporting material or submissions will be required. LAs continue to be required to 
publish their responses, and they can to do this in whichever form they wish, so long as the 
published report contains relevant information submitted via the digital platform. It is not 
necessary for LAs to publish all the information submitted via the digital platform. Before the 
online survey is completed, the chief executive or director of the LA should approve the 
submitted content. If this approach proves effective and supports the engagement and 
compliance of a greater number of authorities than in recent previous years, BEIS will consider 
how this approach can be further improved for the 2021 reporting year. 



Appendix A

The questions which LAs are asked to report on in the digital ‘Survey’ are listed below: 

HECA Reporting 2019 Questions
Name of Local Authority: Dartford Borough Council (DBC)

Type of Local Authority: 

 District/Borough/City Council

Name and contact details of official submitting the report: 

Sandra Woodfall

Sandra.woodfall@dartford.gov.uk

01322 343056

Job title of official submitting the report:

Environmental Promotions Officer 

Names of teams working on policy areas covered by this reporting tool:

Private Sector Housing  

Housing Maintenance Manager 

Total number of staff working in above policy areas (by FTE):

½ time staff 

Private Sector Housing team have a shared responsibility for energy efficiency in the Private 
Sector 

Headline and Overview Questions

1 Does your Local Authority have a current strategy on carbon reduction and/or 
energy efficiency for domestic or non-domestic properties?

Y

2 Kent and Medway wide strategic initiatives:

Kent and Medway have a very strong partnership working ethos and have a 
number of joint initiatives covering residents, businesses and the wider public 
sector.  The Kent and Medway Environment Strategy set the framework and 
identifies domestic energy and fuel poverty as a key strand.  This is further 
complimented by the Fuel Poverty Strategy developed and co-ordinated by 
the Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP)

Kent and Medway have played an active role in influencing and developing 
the TRILEP Energy Strategy, covering the South East, Enterprise and M3 and 
Coast to Capital Local Enterprise partnerships.  The energy projects identified 
range from supporting residents who are off gas to connect to the network to 

mailto:Sandra.woodfall@dartford.gov.uk


Appendix A

the identifications of areas for micro generation. 

https://www.southeastlep.com/energysouth2east 

https://www.southeastlep.com/app/uploads/2019/03/Local-Energy-Strategy-
FINAL.pdf

Energy initiatives identified in the TRILEP Strategy have been reflected in the 
draft Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy going out for 
consultation in June 2019.  The strategy aims to create actions to eliminate 
poor air quality, reduce fuel poverty and deliver an affordable, clean and 
secure energy supply for Kent and Medway.  It makes the link between supply 
of energy for housing, industry and transport and air quality, recognising that 
reducing emissions from the former will lead to improvements in the latter.

The Draft Energy and Low Emissions Strategy goes further with regards to 
domestic energy, suggesting a range of strategic actions from collective 
switching, collective solar and domestic energy efficiency improvements 
through the Kent Warm Homes framework, website and call centre.  The 
Strategy linking sustainability, housing, environmental health and planning 
officers is one of the first of its kind and domestic energy is a key element. 

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-
figures-about-Kent/environmental-policies/kent-environment-strategy

Kent Energy and Low Emission Strategy currently being prepared for 
consultation. Kent Wide Policy.

https://kccmediahub.net/kent-and-medway-energy-and-low-emissions-
strategy745

Kent Environment Strategy

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-
policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/environmental-policies/kent-
environment-strategy

Kent Fuel Poverty Strategy.

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/energy-
efficiency-and-conservation

Dartford Borough Council collates and submits an Annual Greenhouse Gas 
emissions Report showing carbon emissions resulting from it’s 
estate/functions - https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-
planning2/local-authority-carbon-management-programme

It should be noted that DBC is an active member of the Kent Energy 
Efficiency Partnership (KEEP) who received awards from South East 
Association of Local Authority Energy Officer for their work (September 2017)  
along with recognition for their work in taking forward the Kent Environment 
Strategy (December 2017)

3 As Dartford Borough Council has adopted/in the process of seeking 
adoption/support of the above it is felt that at present there is no specific need 

https://www.southeastlep.com/energysouth2east
https://www.southeastlep.com/app/uploads/2019/03/Local-Energy-Strategy-FINAL.pdf
https://www.southeastlep.com/app/uploads/2019/03/Local-Energy-Strategy-FINAL.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/environmental-policies/kent-environment-strategy
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent/environmental-policies/kent-environment-strategy
https://mail1.dartford.gov.uk/enduser/classify_url.html?url=bF1d8A8Dst108PAIMQVO2k64KwJgD9A/Wmhb2EEMdaLtI1SuP2KHd3y4WmCuozHm6PvKQ7Rz5yHWuFgOqoCzjEWMzSnumP3Z267Ob/3hsTY=
https://mail1.dartford.gov.uk/enduser/classify_url.html?url=bF1d8A8Dst108PAIMQVO2k64KwJgD9A/Wmhb2EEMdaLtI1SuP2KHd3y4WmCuozHm6PvKQ7Rz5yHWuFgOqoCzjEWMzSnumP3Z267Ob/3hsTY=
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/energy-efficiency-and-conservation
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/energy-efficiency-and-conservation
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/local-authority-carbon-management-programme
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/local-authority-carbon-management-programme


Appendix A

to write an individual carbon reduction strategy. 

4 a. What scheme(s) has your local authority implemented in support of energy 
saving/carbon reduction in residential accommodation (such as owner-occupied, 
privately rented and social housing) or non-domestic properties since 2017? (if you 
have not implemented any scheme, please enter ‘N/A’).

Warm Homes Scheme (Kent wide scheme) promotion on Kent County Council webpages, 
DBC webpages, mailshots, face to face/telephone energy advice, use of social media 

LA Flexible Eligibility – Statement of Intent issued – promotion on DBC webpages/mailshots, 
use of social media 

SGN first time central heating – DBC is OFGEM approved partner of the Fuel Poor Network 
Extension Scheme and refers fuel poor households/LA Flex eligible households to first time 
gas connections.  This has been promoted at partnership meetings, on mailshots, face to 
face/telephone advice

Energy Deal – Collective Energy Switching Scheme – promotion of DBC webpages, 
mailshots, social media, partnership meetings, attendance at events

DBC has a rolling programme planned maintenance and repairs including energy efficiency 
measures on the Councils housing stock

Housing Assistance Grants are provided to support installation of energy efficiency 
measures to address excess cold, improve efficiency ratings in Private Rented Sector and 
assist households vulnerable to the cold to achieve affordable warmth.  Promotion on DBC 
webpages, workshops, partnership meetings, One You officers, mailshots, events and landlord 
forums.

Triple A project – Solar PV and battery storage installed at 3 properties within the Borough.  
Purpose of the project is to monitor and evaluate the cost/carbon saving benefits of the 
technologies and promote to households in the Borough that are able to self-fund. 

b. What scheme(s) is your local authority planning to implement in support of energy 
saving/carbon reduction in residential accommodation (such as owner-occupied, 
privately rented and social housing) or non-domestic properties in the next two years? 
(if you are not planning to implement any scheme, please enter ‘N/A’)

Free text response to question 4b - please outline in no more than 200 words

The Kent Warm Homes Framework is currently being reviewed 

Kent local Authorities are in the process of finalising contract details with Southern Gas 
Networks who have agreed funding for 210 first time gas connections to properties across 
Kent (50% of cost of heating up to £2500).  DBC will target specific areas in the Borough.

Work with SGN Vulnerability team to support households that have been disconnected 

For the first time in Kent an external wall insulation contract has been finalised through the 
Warm homes framework.  DBC has a number of suitable properties in the Borough

Discretionary Assistance Grants are now available via Better Care Fund (DFG) funding 



Appendix A

allocation revised to ensure low income/households vulnerable to the cold could provide the 
necessary top up funding for energy efficiency measures to ensure vulnerable households 
would not have to contribute towards the cost of heating.  

5 What has been, or will be, the cost(s) of running and administering the scheme(s), 
including the value of grants and other support, plus any other costs incurred?  Please 
provide figures and a brief narrative account if desired.

Warm Homes Scheme provides a call centre facility – 50 calls received from Borough 
residents 2017/2019.  The call centre was originally funded by contributions from all Kent 
Authorities and is now funded by referral income and Kent County Council

Warm Homes Scheme

APRIL 2017 TO MARCH 2018

Number of 
measures

CERO 
funding

HHCRO 
funding

LA Flex 
funding

Council 
better 
care 
funding

Client 
contribution 

Dartford Borough Council Generated Installs

Cavity Wall 
Insulation

5 £2,308.14 £856.79 0 0 £742.28

Heating 1 £1,704.32 £2,380.95

Loft 
Insulation

11 £1,281.73 £331.24 £516.88 £1,838.33

TOTAL 17 £3,589.87 £1,188.03 £2,221.20 £2,380.95 £2,580.61

Kent Warm Homes Generated Installs 

Cavity wall 
insulation

1 £1,431.97 £440.00

Heating 0

Loft 
insulation

5 £6,322.40 £2,813.96

TOTAL 6 £7,754.37 £3,253.96

APRIL 2018 TO MARCH 2019

Number of 
Measures

CERO 
funding

HHCRO 
funding

LA Flex 
funding

Council 
better care 
funding

Client 
contribution



Appendix A

Dartford Borough Council Generated Installs

Cavity wall 
insulation

19 £1,729.46 £2,326.59 £18,557.28 0 £1,936.10

Heating 9 0 £2,526.77 £8,325.31 £19,604.89 £1,779.85

Loft 
Insulation

16 £444.30 £3,036.00 £4,769.73 £1,117.30

TOTAL 44 £2,173.76 £7,889.36 £31,652.32 £19,604.89 £4,833.25

Kent Warm Homes Generated leads 

Cavity wall 
insulation

1 £393.84 £518.34

Heating 0

Loft 
insulation

2 £750.39 £518.34

Total 3 £1,144.23 £1,036.68

Council Housing Stock

Total

Boilers April 2017 March 2018 223

April 2018 March 2019 265

Planned April 2019 March 2020 378

Rewires April 2017 March 2018 295

April 2018 March 2019 288

Planned April 2019 March 2020 0

External Wall 
Insulation

April 2017 March 2018 2

April 2018 March 2019 114

Planned April 2019 March 2020 112

Roofs 
including Top 
Up loft 
insulation

April 2017 March 2018 Housing stock

151

Blocks

28

April 2018 March 2019 143 7



Appendix A

Planned April 2019 March 2020 28 42

Block LED April 2017 March 2018 0

April 2018 March 2019 0

Planned April 2019 March 2020 0

SOLAR PV PRODUCTION REPORT – DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

Solar PV figures on Council Housing Stock 

195 PV Systems installed

Current annual income from Feed-in tariff  £140,828

Total Income To Date

April 2017 to March 2018  £129,443.00

April 2018 to December 2018  £125,372 Still awaiting figures for January to March 2019

Private Sector Housing Assistance figures:

Grant 2017 – 2018 2018 – 2019 Totals

Disabled facilities 
grants

39 28 67

Discretionary 
Assistance grant

2 8 10

Safe and Secure 
Grant

0 8 8

Hospital Discharge 
Grant

0 2 2

6 What businesses, charities, third sector organisations or other stakeholders do you 
work with to deliver the scheme(s)? 

Aran Services – Warm Homes Framework provider of insulation/heating.

Southern Gas Networks – Fuel Poor Network Extension Scheme and VulnerabilityTeam.

British Gas - Vulnerability Team.

IChoosr – Collective Energy Switching Scheme – Energy Deal.

Home Improvement Agencies and Hospital Discharge team – refer residents into Warm 
homes, LA Flexible Eligibility, Energy Deal and Grants.

Energy Saving Specialist and European Partners – Triple A Solar PV and battery storage 
project.



Appendix A

Health Partnerships through One Your Officers, CCG MDT multi-disciplinary meetings.

7 What has been the outcome of the scheme(s) (e.g. energy savings, carbon savings, 
economic impacts such as job creation and/or increased business competitiveness, 
societal impacts such as alleviation of fuel poverty and/or improved health outcomes 
etc.)? 

This does not have to be measured against national data or benchmarks, but rather 
focuses on the local authority’s own monitoring and evaluation.

Total Saving through Energy Deal for Dartford Borough residents for the period May 17 up to 
and including February 2019 auction is: £49,247.66

From a recent article in Open Access Government (30 April 2019) Dartford is ranked 4th in the 
best rated areas in England and Wales (based on the energy efficiency of domestic dwellings 
18.90% of A and B rated EPC’s

Data taken from EPC map by Everest: https://www.everest.co.uk/energy-performance-
certificate-in-depth-guide

Cost and carbon savings based on semi-detached house (source: Statistics taken from 
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/domestic/

Measure Savings £/year Savings kg CO2/year

Cavity wall insulation

(26 installed)

£3,770 15,600.00 

Loft Insulation 

(34 installed)

£5,100.00 21,080.00

Loft Insulation Top Up

(329 installed)

£4,935.00 21,385.00

External Wall Insulation 

(116 installed)

£31,320 127,600.00

Heating upgrades 

(F rated) 488

£124,440.00 395,280.00

8 What lessons have you learned from delivering this scheme(s)? 

https://www.everest.co.uk/energy-performance-certificate-in-depth-guide
https://www.everest.co.uk/energy-performance-certificate-in-depth-guide
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/


Appendix A

The design of energy efficiency schemes has become increasingly complex – in our Borough 
a lot of the easy win measures have already been installed leaving the more complex cases 
still to do.

LA Flex has highlighted the issue of problems of a properly procured service to deliver 
measure, linked with GDPR issues making delivery of projects much harder and slower to get 
off the ground.

Through a combination of different schemes, initiatives and funding pots Dartford has worked 
hard to maximise funding and to engage with residents to offer them wider opportunities on 
funding and services.

The cross promotion of any of the schemes and services available (Energy Deal, LA Flex, 
Better Care Grants etc.) allows a whole house approach.  

We used a mailshot in a small targeted area of the borough promoting a range of schemes 
followed up by a door knock to generate a lot of interest in schemes. 

Key to reaching the very vulnerable people is linking with GP, CCG’s, One You Officers and 
the like.  Explaining the links between poor housing and a  person’s health has proved very 
difficult.

Not having access to DWP benefit data, priority service register information has made it much 
harder to reach our vulnerable residents – the Digital Economy Act Fuel Poverty Section 
should have made this easier, but we have made slow progress on this. 

Local Communications Strategy 

9 Does your local authority provide any advisory service to consumers (and 
businesses) on how to save energy? 

Y

10 If yes to question 10, please briefly outline how this is undertaken (or enter ‘N/A’ if 
appropriate)

Warm Homes Call Centre enables Kent residents to be referred to ECO schemes (either 
through HHCRO or LA Flex) and signposts to Energy Switching scheme and local authority 
financial assistance. 

DBC offers Collective Switching to residents, enables wider energy advice to be offered at 
registration, including information on Priority Services register. 

Promotion of assistance available through Landlord Forum, attendance at events, face to face 
contact, presentations at meetings, workings with Pharmacies, articles in 
magazines/pharmaceutical newsletters, posters and leaflets and use of different social media 
postings. 

11 How do you communicate or encourage energy saving amongst domestic consumers 
and/or local businesses? (if you do not, please enter ‘N/A’ and move on to the next 
section ‘Local Green Supply Chains’)

DBC energy webpages, social media posts, mailshots and through attendance at events. 

DBC signposted businesses to LOCASE funding and Low Carbon Kent.  The aim of the 
network is to help businesses reduce costs by cutting emissions and promote the opportunities 
of the low carbon market.  Network members can access grants and these have been 
promoted to food businesses via Environmental Health and Environmental promotions officer’s 



Appendix A

small business links.

Through the link to Energy Deal, there has been 181 enquiries to the Make It Cheaper energy 
switching service for SMEs that can compare prices from different suppliers, help the SME 
choose the right tariff and set up their contract, and supports SMEs through the switching 
process if they wish to change supplier and 40 of them decided to switch.

Local Green Supply Chains

12 Does your Local Authority promote the use of energy efficient products 
amongst consumers (and businesses)? (if you answer no please move onto 
the next section ‘Private Rented Sector’).

Y

13 If yes to question 12, please briefly detail how this promotion work is undertaken. 

DBC webpages provide information on renewable energy technologies and energy efficiency 
advice to householders.

Signpost businesses to Kent Sustainable Business Team and Low Carbon Kent (network of 
businesses with the aim to reduce costs by cutting emissions and promote the low carbon 
market).

14 What engagement (formal or informal) does your local authority have with local 
businesses/supply chains involved in promoting energy efficiency products or carbon 
reduction?

Kent wide framework procured South East Contractor.

Triple a funded project – SME from Dover won the tender process for installing Solar 
PV/Battery plus monitoring equipment.

Low Carbon Exchange monitors the Council Housing Solar PV panels and manages any 
repairs required.

Domestic Private Rented Sector (PRS) Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards 

The Minimum Energy Efficiency Regulations (the Regulations) apply to all privately rented 
properties in England and Wales. As of April 2018, all such properties are legally required to 
have an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) of at least an E before they can be let on a 
new tenancy.  This requirement will then extend to all such properties by 1 April 2020, even if 
there has been no change in tenant or tenancy (please see BEIS’s published guidance 
documents for the full details on the standard). 

The PRS Regulations give enforcement powers to local authorities, and authorities are 
responsible for ensuring landlord compliance within their area.

15 Is your authority aware of the PRS Minimum Efficiency Standards, which 
came into force in April 2018? 

(if you answered no, please move on to the next section ‘Financial Support for 
Energy Efficiency’).

Y

16 Which team within your authority is responsible for, or will be responsible for, leading on 
enforcement of the PRS minimum standard?

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-private-rented-property-minimum-standard-landlord-guidance-documents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-private-rented-property-minimum-standard-landlord-guidance-documents


Appendix A

Private Sector Housing Team, Dartford Borough Council, Civic Centre, Home Gardens, 
Dartford, Kent DA1 1DR.

Training on PRS Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards was arranged by the Association of 
Local Energy Officers SE region and held on 6 February 2019 at Oxford City Council.  
Presentations and contact details provided to Officers unable to attend the meeting.

17 Please provide the contact details of the person leading this team.

Rachel Evans, Senior Private Sector Housing Officer  – Rachel.evans@dartford.gov.uk 

18 What method or methods does your authority use to communicate with landlords and 
tenants about the standards and other related issues? 

The Private Sector Housing Group has produced two generic leaflets giving details of MEES 
requirements.  One leaflet for tenants and one for landlords.  

Local Landlords are invited to Landlord Forum and updates about regulation, assistance, 
grants etc., is provided. 

19 Do you directly target landlords of EPC F and G rated properties? 

If yes, how? If no, please explain.

(Y/N)

It is our intention and wish to target such properties but current resources do not allow 
proactive action.  The funding available through our contractor for energy efficiency measures 
is not available for F and G rated properties or properties without an EPC.

Financial Support for Energy Efficiency

20 What financial programmes, if any, do you have to promote domestic and non-domestic 
energy efficiency or energy saving? If applicable, please outline the sums, where such 
funding is sourced, and where it is targeted.

(If you do not have any financial assistance programmes, please enter ‘N/A’ and move 
onto the next section ‘Fuel Poverty’).

DFG and Discretionary assistances via the Better Care funding.

DBC – a Winter Warmth fund is available for residents requiring replacement boilers – 
eligibility is over 65 with long term health condition.  Up to £2500 available and a charge is 
placed on the property.

ECO – HHCRO eligible residents (through Warm Homes) contractor has funding from different 
utility providers.  LA Flexible Eligibility funding available for households in low income and 
vulnerable to the cold.

SGN and FPNES – funding secured for up to 210 first gas connection installations.  Up to 
£2,700 per connection for fuel poor/low income/households vulnerable to the cold

3 properties had 2kWp solar array, battery storage and monitoring equipment installed – 
through European Triple A funded project   

KEEP bids for Warm Homes fund – 2 unsuccessful submissions for category 1 and 3 x x 2 
submissions and category 2 x1 submission

NEA Warm Homes Campaign fund - £500 funding received for workshops for Pharmacies to 

mailto:Rachel.evans@dartford.gov.uk


Appendix A

promote health and housing issues and signpost to services available.

Open Data Institute (ODI) Kent Public health bid – Kent Public Health obtained some ODI 
funding to look at different ways to link health data with energy efficiency issues with the aim of 
highlighting areas KEEP officers could target with projects. 

Fuel Poverty

21 Does your local authority have a fuel poverty strategy?

If yes, please describe the scope of the strategy, and the support that is 
available for low income and vulnerable households to help tackle fuel poverty 
in your local area.  Please also provide a link to your strategy if published. 

Y

Yes – Kent Fuel Poverty Strategy- Dartford Borough Council approved the Strategy and 
committed to support the action plan to reduce fuel poverty in Kent in line with national targets 
in September 2016.

22 What steps have you taken to identify residents/properties in fuel poverty? (

Website promoted Warm Homes.

Targeted letters mailshot to a few streets in the borough promoting grants, insulation and 
energy switching.

Letters regarding energy efficiency and LA Flex  circulated with Benefit mailings.

Collective Switching/Energy Deal provides the opportunity to advise residents regarding 
energy efficiency, energy switching and assistance such as Priority Services Register 

Off Gas mapping from SGN – liaising with them to identify work areas.

Have used  EPC data to identify possible properties to target – this is made more difficult now 
EPC data has not been uploaded for several years now.

BRE housing stock condition survey.

Partnership meetings with health agencies including local MDT, CCG meetings, work with 
Hospital Discharge team through Better Care funding and also Care Navigators.  Liaise with 
Home Improvement Agency who also refer residents 

Social media including Facebook, twitter and Instagram used to promote schemes 

23 How does fuel poverty interlink with your local authority’s overall carbon reduction 
strategy? (enter ‘N/A’ if not appropriate)

Kent Environment Strategy – Theme Two: making best use of existing resources and 
minimising negative impacts focuses on minimising the impacts of current activities through 
reducing resource usage across all sectors

ELES – currently being prepared for Consultation

SELEP – Energy Efficiency in Homes. A programme of home energy efficiency measures 
enabling improved levels of loft and cavity wall insulation to assist in homes achieving an EPC 



Appendix A

rating of C to align with the 2032 Pathway.

DBC Corporate Plan

ET 1 To reduce carbon emissions and improve air quality in the 

                      Borough.

ET2 To ensure that development in Dartford is sustainable with high 

                      standards of design, layout and energy/water efficiency.

HS2 To provide high quality housing services to strive to improve the 

                     quality and condition of the Borough’s private rented housing 

                      sector. 

HP1 The number of households taking part in home energy efficiency 

                      improvement programmes/works.

24 a. What measures or initiatives have you taken to promote fuel cost reduction for those 
in fuel poverty? (enter ‘N/A’ if not appropriate)

Energy Switching. Energy Deal (since 2013) – auctions held 3 times a year – hence ongoing 
promotions through social media etc., 

MDTs/GPs – link to GP multi-disciplinary Group looking at individual patient cases and 
assessing help and support that can be given on an individual basis for all residents with a 
view to gaining access to residents requiring adaptation to property or heating issues 

Met with and built relationship with contacts at SGN and British Gas Vulnerability team to build 
knowledge to ensure able to impart accurate up to date and advice to residents

Promotion of Warm Homes Discount and Priority Services Register via website, face to face, 
over telephone

b. If you have taken measures or initiatives to promote fuel cost reduction for those in 
fuel poverty, what partnership with business or energy providers have you undertaken? 
(enter ‘N/A’ if not appropriate)

Met with and built relationship with contacts at SGN and British Gas Vulnerability Team to 
build knowledge to ensure able to impart accurate, up to date and advice to residents.  

EDF funding secured through Kent Warm Homes Scheme.

Liaise with Aran Services to ensure measures for qualifying fuel poor/low income/vulnerable to 
the cold households receive fully funded energy efficiency measures to alleviate the adverse 
impacts of living in a cold home.  Aran Services have access to utility ECO funding to support 
projects 

Meetings with EON regarding ECO funding, however, could not proceed due to conditions in 
contract.

The Energy Company Obligation



Appendix A

The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) is an obligation on energy suppliers aimed at helping 
households cut their energy bills and reduce carbon emissions by installing energy saving 
measures. Following the Spring 2018 consultation, the Government set out in its response that 
ECO3 will fully focus on Affordable Warmth – low income, vulnerable and fuel poor 
households.

The recently introduced ECO “ flexible eligibility  (ECO Flex) programme allows LAs to make 
declarations determining that certain households in fuel poverty or with occupants on low 
incomes and vulnerable to the effects of cold homes, are referred to ECO obligated suppliers 
for support under the Affordable Warmth element of ECO. LAs involved are required to issue a 
Statement of Intent that they are going to identify households as eligible, and the criteria they 
are going to use; and a declaration that the LA has been consulted on the installation of 
measures in a home. 

25 Has your local authority published a Statement of Intent (SoI) for ECO 
flexibility eligibility? 

If yes, please include a link to your SoI below.

Y

Link to SoI: 

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/energy-efficiency-and-
conservation/warm-homes-scheme.

Published June 2018.  Replaced Version 1 from June 2017

26 Please use the following space to provide any further information you feel might be of 
benefit to BEIS, in helping us to understand ECO Flex delivery in more detail. For 
example, the number of declarations signed versus the number of households helped.

Complexity of scheme and sending in referrals that may not receive any or little funding to 
carbon saving scoring – a process that most LAs do not understand.

A number of the properties referred do not result in measures – the loft is full of stored items, 
no loft hatch, narrow loft hatch, failed cavity wall insulation, rat trap bond type properties 
making it hard to install CWI to the whole property. No funding for failed cavity wall insulation 
or removal of incorrect insulation in flood area etc.

External Wall Insulation even with ECO funding is too expensive for fuel poor residents and 
many of our residents live in solid wall properties.

BEIS need to ensure that LAs who are active in bidding for funding for their Boroughs receive 
positive outcomes or feedback on their funding bids.  Currently many organisations that are 
not local government levy funding but cannot deliver without LA involvement Historically 
energy grants worked well in Kent when delivered through LAs.

GDPR restrictions and procurement hamper identification of and sharing of vulnerable 
residents details, hence limit ability to target, reach and assist those that most need 
assistance.  How should Digital Economy Act regarding Fuel Poverty and GDPR work? 

The fire and rescue service automatically receive details of the residents in our county to visit 
when they reach a specific age, however, are not able to share that data with others.  In some 
parts of the Country the fire and rescue service works well with the LA’s but this is not the 
same throughout the whole Country 

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/energy-efficiency-and-conservation/warm-homes-scheme
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/energy-efficiency-and-conservation/warm-homes-scheme


Appendix A

Smart Metering

27 Please provide a brief statement outlining your current or planned approach to:

Engage and support your residents (including those in vulnerable circumstances or with 
pre-payment metering) to promote take up of smart meters and achieve associated 
benefits (e.g. ability to control energy use, identify best value tariffs)? Please detail any 
work undertaken or planned with local/community groups, housing associations, micro 
businesses, Smart Energy GB under their Partnership Programme and energy 
suppliers.

A DBC officer attended a training session offered through Smart Energy with a view to 
promoting smart meters, however found it difficult to promote to residents as utility companies 
where at different stages of implementation in the area.  Officers would provide information on 
Smart Metering if requested during energy tariff/advice sessions.

The training has been disseminated through lots of partners at differing times, which means 
many people have already been ‘reached’ with the smart metering message

There was a lack of clarity about the ease of switching smart meters when switching suppliers 
and compatibility of different meters etc., There appears to be different variable smart meter 
tariffs available, which has caused some confusion with residents too.

28 Please provide a brief statement outlining your current or planned approach to:

Integrate your approaches to delivering energy efficiency improvements in residential 
accommodation with the opportunities presented by the installation of smart meters, 
drawing upon materials from the Smart Meter Energy Efficiency Materials Project or 
other sources of independent information.

Information provided on Council website and responses given to individual enquiries from 
residents

29 Please detail any:

Resources/ support (e.g. services, funding) available to residents who have had an 
appliance(s) condemned for safety reasons and cannot afford to replace it (e.g. during 
visual safety checks conducted during their smart meter installation or otherwise).

Free text response to question 29 – please outline in no more than 150 words.

Early discussions underway with SGN vulnerability team to offer support/resources to 
residents who have had an appliance (s) disconnected for safety reasons.

Unfortunately no referrals received from Kent Fire and Rescue who undertake Safe and Well 
visits 

DBC officer met with Charis Grants to review services available.

No referrals received from Smart Energy GB on properties in our area. 

30 Existing relationships with energy suppliers to help ensure that the opportunities 
presented by vacant properties under your control are effectively utilised (i.e. gaining 
access to install a smart meter).



Appendix A

Council Housing Management Team meeting with company in the near future to ensure 
Energy Companies are advised where provisions are required of voids properties.

Future Schemes or Wider Initiatives

31 Please outline any future schemes or wider initiatives not covered above that your local 
authority has carried out or is planning to undertake to improve the energy efficiency of 
residential accommodation or businesses in your area, for example, within your Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Energy Strategy (if you do not plan any future schemes 
currently, please enter ‘N/A’).

SGN Off Gas – FPNES – 1st time Central heating focus on some of the newer estates in the 
Borough who would benefit

Continue to try and make links with our Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Energy Strategy 
and Local Energy Hub.  It has been difficult to develop a dialogue with them, although Kent 
LAs did attend the workshop sessions when developing the SELEP Strategy to ensure 
domestic energy efficiency was part of the plans

Lower Carbon Across the South East (LoCASE)  is a grant/advice scheme aimed at helping 
business become more efficient and reduce carbon footprint – awaiting new funding 
announcement in July 2019

Collective Solar PV purchasing scheme being considered County wide

Stronger links between Kent Fire and Rescue and health partners so a joined up approach to 
ensure homes are warm and safe for vulnerable residents to live in.

Attended SELEP Energy Strategy Workshop and hope to build on existing relationship through 
County partnership working 

The Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership is currently being reviewed and looking 
to next steps 

Working with SGN to look at assistance for Off gas properties through their mapping tool, and 
work with their Vulnerability team on promotion of Energy Efficiency schemes and gas safety 
(including awareness of carbon monoxide and locking cooker valves)

Initial meetings held with SSE looking at new ways of working .

 





CABINET
13 JUNE 2019

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 4 of 2018/19.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly of 
the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan delivers 
the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through the 
following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the Council 
wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating to the 
Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of the 
Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the fourth quarter of 
2018/19.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have targets 
assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators 
may report annually, and these have been identified in the report.



CABINET
13 JUNE 2019

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate 
Support

Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q4 2018/19
1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities

Key Action Q4 Update

Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing

Demolition of the Bellway-owned part of the site well-progressed. Reserved matters 
application for Phase 3B approved. Revised application for Phase 2 to be submitted. 
Site proposed to be developed within 2 years. Planning application for the Vauxhall 
Farm site (southern end of Lowfield St) awaiting determination.  

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site Ongoing discussions are taking place with the developer. The planning application is 
expected late 2019.

Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot

Works on Market St to commence on 20 May and to last for 9 months. High St 
scheme currently being developed and will follow on from this. Consultant has been 
appointed for Phase 2 of the project covering junctions at Lowfield St/Instone Rd, 
Instone Rd/Highfield Rd, Highfield Rd/West Hill, Home Gardens/East Hill and Hythe 
St/Westgate Rd. Works on this phase to commence in February 2020. Phase 3 of the 
project is the improvement of Hythe St. Design of the scheme will commence in July 
2019.  

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square

Works on Market St to commence on 20 May and last for 9 months.  

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes

1,088 homes delivered in Dartford part of EDC area to April 2019. A further 6,436 
homes have outline or reserved matters consent, 5,511 at Eastern Quarry, 602 at 
Ebbsfleet Green, 103 at Craylands Lane and 220 at the Croxton and Garry site. 
There is also an outline planning consent for up to 2,320 homes at Ebbfleet Central - 
this is likely to be revisited.  

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 
system and its extension to the new developments

Eastern route out of Ingress Park now operational, providing full access to the service 
through the development. Funding secured for Fastrack tunnel link to Bluewater. Link 
from Ebbsfleet, through Eastern Quarry to Bluewater to open in September 2021. 
London Rd/St Clements Way new dedicated Fastrack lane completed Spring 2019. 
A Fastrack Advisory Board has been set up with a view to supporting the ongoing 
improvement and delivery of the Fastrack service.  



2

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces

Contractor appointed and demolition work commenced. Contractor’s detailed design 
proposals for bridges are being developed. River design now completed and 
permissions being sought. Works to Darenth Suite well under way.

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford

We are building a new website for the Dartford Business Awards which will better link 
with businesses locating to the area.

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition We are currently planning the 3rd Dartford Business Awards for September 2019.

Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience

We continue to work with Planning to support the implementation of the town centre 
regeneration works. Through Town Centre Management we are delivering a wide 
range of projects, events and the Thursday and Saturday markets. We are helping 
planning to implement the Market Street works programme.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life

Key Action Q4 Update
Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities

Works continuing on site; car park and 3G pitch complete apart from final surfacing. 
Building brickwork and internal/external framing ongoing. Final contractor’s proposals 
for M&E being developed.

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 4, 22 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 204. 
Attendees were 79.

There are currently 7 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 4, 85 Health Walk 
sessions ran. The number of attendances were 856. Attendees were 159. There were 
20 new people that joined the walks.

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough. In quarter 4, 35 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 395. 
Attendees were 159.

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 30+. In quarter 4, 25 people engaged on the programme. 22 
people completed the course and 4 of these achieved a weight loss of >5%.

Don’t Sit Get Fit consists of providing support to targeted schools throughout the year 



3

in relation to the Health Weight Agenda. The new Pilot programme will work in 
partnership with KCHFT and Public Health School nursing team and started in 
quarter 4 with a total of 17 families signed up.

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events.

Healthy Workplaces is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend. In quarter 4, 
there were 4 organisations that worked on this programme. The number of 
businesses that have set 3 pledges for small changes, including the number of those 
defined as Routine and Manual and Micro Businesses = 4. The number of businesses 
that have completed a policy review to embed workplace health, including number of 
those defined as Routine and Manual and Micro Businesses = 1.

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes

In quarter 4, there were 2 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme, 
totalling £4,385. The next Community Grant Scheme will be available later on in the 
year.

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer The strong working relationship continues with consultants engaged to look at the 
feasibility of the expansion of Fairfield car park.

Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre

The annual Adult Summer Exhibition is taking place at the Sir Peter Blake Gallery. 
This will be followed by the Children’s Summer Exhibition. The Council continues to 
wait for the outcome of a joint bid, with Gravesham and the EDC, for a major arts 
programme across the area.

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year

The St Georges Day event was extremely successful, involving over 500 school 
children. The arrangements for Dartford Festival are in hand, with all of the acts under 
contract. The Cinema in the Park events are now sold out, despite extra tickets being 
made available and tickets are selling fast for the three Theatre in the Park events.

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments

Ongoing provision of new green spaces as part of build out of major sites, including 
Eastern Quarry, Ebbsfleet Green, The Bridge, St Clements Lakes, Northern Gateway 
East and Mill Pond. Laying out of open space as children’s play area at top end of 
Phoenix Quarter (Temple Hill Road) has been agreed with developer and work is now 
to commence. Stone Lodge to provide improved and more useable green space. 
Further green space provision will be planned as new planning applications come 
forward.  



4

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site

Following the CCG’c unsuccessful bid to NHS England, discussions have been taking 
place to determine alternative funding options and a bid has now been submitted to 
the Future High Streets Fund.

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise

Key Action Q4 Update
Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others

This initiative continues and the CSU, Housing and EH utilise these tools to good 
effect. In the year 2018/19, 316 Community Protection Warning letters were issued 
and 67 Community Protection Notices were issued.

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour

Successful funding bids have been granted by the PCC to bolster CCTV capability 
and DTAC towards reducing ASB. Community Protection Warning letters are still 
being used to ban trouble makers and shoplifters from the town centre.

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety

All food hygiene inspections are carried out according to national guidelines. This 
year all high risk food safety inspections have been carried out. The lower risk 
inspections have increased throughout the year resulting in delays in some premises 
getting their routine visits. In accordance with national guidance we do not carry out 
routine health and safety inspections, however, we respond to intelligence if it is sent 
to us and act accordingly.

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol

The excellent relationship with DBC licensing officers and Kent Police continues to 
flourish and there have been some very good results in terms of joint advice and 
enforcement activity in the town's pubs and clubs. There has also been very 
innovative and ground breaking training in safeguarding and counter terrorism for taxi 
and private hire drivers which has stimulated interest from other councils across the 
country.

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford

DBC licensing have consolidated the innovative, unique trend in introducing a series 
of workshops in partnership with Kent Fire and Rescue and Kent Police. This involves 
bespoke training in safeguarding, counter terrorism, relevant legislation and road 
safety measures. The scheme is ground breaking and still proving to be very 
successful.



5

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public

DTAC is recognised as being one of the best business crime partnerships in the 
country. The initiative to introduce Community Protection Warnings instead of 
banning notices has been successful and the implementation of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order in the Town and Central Park areas seeks to reduce ASB 
particularly excess drinking in public places. The new DTAC Intelligence Manager 
was recruited in April 2019.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel

Key Action Q4 Update
Procure a new waste collection contract New contractor (Urbaser) takes over from Amey on 1 July 2019.

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking

Under contract, DBC instructed Kingdom Security to act as our enforcement 
capability for litter and dog fouling in January 2016. Since then and up until the end of 
March 2019, 9,980 fixed penalty notices (FPN) have been issued to offenders in the 
borough.

DBC, having led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN, still remain one of 
very few LA’s within Kent to have introduced this. Up until 31 March 2019 there have 
been 645 prosecutions/positive outcomes for minor fly tips served by DBC 
Enforcement Officers (not Kingdom).

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented Volunteer litter picking scheme is now up and running.

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments

Energy efficiency standards now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017.

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of 
Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity

East of Gravesend option (Option C) has been selected. Detailed design and 
mitigations now being undertaken. Development Consent Order to be submitted late 
2019. Expected completion date 2027.  

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures Completed.

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national Air Quality continues to be monitored in accordance with national requirements. As 



6

requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents

consultees in the planning process we attempt to influence construction to minimise 
the impact on Air Quality.

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

Key Action Q4 Update
Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme

Target achieved for delivery of affordable homes in the Borough for 2017/18. Council 
new build programme progressing well on time and within budget. Phase 2 of the 
Council new build programme close to being finalised for approval.

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017-18 Delivery target achieved.

Include community facilities as part of major new developments

First primary school opened on Eastern Quarry at Castle Hill. Proposals for 
secondary school and primary school at Alkerden, Eastern Quarry being progressed. 
Proposals for a primary school at Ebbsfleet Green being progressed. 
Planning application for primary school on Northern Gateway (Central Rd) approved. 
Opening of temporary school programmed for Sept 2019 with permanent school in 
Sept 2020. 
Stone Lodge outline application incorporating secondary school approved subject to 
S106. Application for temporary school programmed to open in Sept 2019 under 
consideration. 
Plans are being progressed for health hub on former Co-op site as part of Muse 
development of the site. Potential sites for a health hub at Stone being explored. 
Discussions with landowner to enable provision of a primary school on the St James 
Lane pit site in Stone ongoing.  

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes

In quarter 4, there were 2 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme, 
totalling £4,385. The next Community Grant Scheme will be available later on in the 
year.

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light

The St Georges Day event was extremely successful, involving over 500 school 
children. The arrangements for Dartford Festival are in hand, with all of the acts under 
contract. The Cinema in the Park events are now sold out, despite extra tickets being 



7

made available and tickets are selling fast for the three Theatre in the Park events.
Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum

Owing to changes in the way in which funding is provided by the HLA, the Council 
may need to look again at the future development of the Museum.

Maximise the number of people registered to vote

The Register of Electors is continuing to increase in size following the Annual 
Canvass.  The Register was republished, taking into account the new Wards and 
Polling Districts, as part of the preparations for the Local Elections that took place in 
May 2019.

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement

Key Action Q4 Update

Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money

The Channel Shift programme continues to make progress. Online houses in multiple 
occupation (HMOs) licensing has recently been launched with online alcohol licensing 
in progress.

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the 
Council Agile working has been extended to key posts.

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget Budget process completed for 2019/20.

Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs

2017/18 element of programme delivered on time and within budget. 2018/19 
programme has commenced.

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates

Completed in terms of 2018/19 pilot. Unfortunately the 2019/20 Pilot Bid was 
unsuccessful.

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019

This is now complete, with the new warding arrangements taking effect from the May 
2019 elections.

 





1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q4 2018/19
Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Community Infrastructure Levy 
income £2,061,024 £794,057 £704,513    £181,170 £315,750 £873,971 £2,075,404  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has 
been applied to eligible development since April 
2014. During quarter 4 of 2018/19 twelve 
payments have been made. Some of these are 
instalment payments with further instalments to 
be paid during 2019/20. Payments can rise or fall 
from quarter to quarter, as CIL is only triggered 
upon commencement of consented development. 
15% of the revenue generated from CIL liable 
developments in a local area, will be passed to 
town/parish councils and applied to projects in 
local neighbourhoods, and a further proportion of 
the total CIL revenue will be used for 
administrative costs. In December 2018 Cabinet 
resolved that no CIL allocations would be made 
during the financial year 2019/20 due to identified 
potential infrastructure project plans not being 
sufficiently advanced or other funding streams 
being identified. However, it agreed that in 
principle, CIL monies may be applied to 2 health 
infrastructure projects which are currently being 
progressed by partners.



2

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Overall business birth rate 740 660 Not measured for Quarters N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to new 
business registrations as business births. Latest 
available figures show that there were 660 
business births in 2017 which is down 10.81% 
from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC 
area), the business birth rate in 2017 was 7,895. 
This is an annual indicator and the next update 
for 2018 is due at the end of November 2019.

Overall business death rate 495 640 Not measured for Quarters N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to 
businesses that have ceased to trade (identified 
through de-registration of the administrative units, 
that is, VAT and PAYE) as business deaths. 
Latest available figures show that there were 640 
business deaths in 2017, which is up 29.29% 
from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC 
area), the business death rate in 2017 was 7,620. 
This is an annual indicator and the next update is 
due at the end of November 2019.

District wide unemployment rate 1.2% 1.3% 1.1% 1.1% 1.4% 1.7% 1.7%  

There were 1,145 unemployed people in the 
Borough in March 2019, which represents an 
unemployment rate of 1.7%. This has increased 
by 5.5% since the previous month (60 more 
unemployed people in March than in February), 
and has increased by 35.5% from the same time 
last year (300 more unemployed people in March 
2019 than in March 2018). In Kent overall (KCC 
area), the unemployment rate in March 2019 was 
2.4%.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162 1,031 Not measured for Quarters 1,010  

Another year of strong house delivery across the 
Borough, which is expected to continue over 
2019/20, taking into account the number of 
homes under construction in April 2019. Delivery 
at Ebbsfleet Garden City represented 13% of the 
overall figure. The proportion of housing delivered 
in Ebbsfleet Garden City is expected to rise in 
future years, as delivery levels at other sites 
across the Borough decrease, due to many of 
them of them reaching completion or final phases 
of development.



3

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 2
018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Total Fairfield Centre Visits 459,270 504,916 132,174 133,431 117,011 143,947 526,563  

Fairfield’s third full year of operation under Places 
Leisure has shown continued popularity of the 
centre with visits ever increasing on past year 
figures. Centre capacities are very high with new 
activities and opportunities to expand the service 
offering becoming more limited. This is driven by 
the overall positive view on the standard of 
facilities and developments implemented since 
the 2016 reopening.         

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Park Run 
Users

146 161 168 364 265 268 266  Central Park = 173 average weekly runners.
Dartford Heath = 95 average weekly runners.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Junior Park 
Run Users

37 35 39 50 38 38 41  
There has been a small increase in the number of 
participants compared to the same quarter in 
2017/18.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Princes Park Mini Pitch Users 179 191 38 34 45 42 159  

Income for this quarter is slightly up compared to 
this quarter last year due to the weather being 
much better and no snow affecting training 
sessions. There are a couple of more longer term 
bookings compared to last year where it was 
more week by week with some teams.

Number of local groups 
supported through Community 
Grant and other grant schemes

34 38 4 5 22 9 40  

In quarter 4 there were 7 grants awarded under 
the DBC Community Fund. 2 organisations were 
awarded grants under the Salute to Youth 
Scheme. The next Community Grant Scheme will 
be available later on this year.

Percentage attendance at the 
Orchard Theatre (% of total seats 
available which are used)

61.33% 59.42% 64% 54% 66% 64% 62%  

The prior year’s footfall was higher by 5,000 ticket 
sales due to having four more performances than 
this year’s quarter 4. This quarter highlights were 
The Band and Benidorm the Musical which sold 
over 6,500 each week, similar figures last year for 
shows with Cilla the Musical selling 5,600 and 
Crazy For You 4,600.



4

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Life expectancy gap for men
Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note
N/A Not measured for Quarters N/A  

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life 
expectancy is 9.1 years lower for men in the most 
deprived areas of Dartford than in the least 
deprived areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life 
expectancy is 7.8 years lower for men. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update is due in 
July 2019.

Life expectancy gap for women
Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note
N/A Not measured for Quarters N/A  

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life 
expectancy is 4.4 years lower for women in the 
most deprived areas of Dartford than in the least 
deprived areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life 
expectancy is 4.7 years lower for women. This is 
an annual indicator and the next update is due in 
July 2019.

Percentage of obese children in 
Year 6 21.9% 22.2% Not measured for Quarters N/A  

Latest available figures for 2017/18 show that 
22.2% of children in Year 6 (10-11 year olds) 
were classified as obese in the Borough. This is 
higher than the previous year where 21.9% of 
children in Year 6 were classified as obese. In 
Kent overall (KCC area) for 2017/18, the figure is 
18.8%. This is an annual indicator and the next 
update is due in 2020.

Percentage of adults achieving at 
least 150 minutes of physical 
exercise per week

63.9% 71.5% Not measured for Quarters N/A  

Latest available figures for 2017/18 show that 
71.5% of adults were physically active in the 
Borough. This is up from the 2016/17 figure of 
63.9%. This indicator is defined as the 
percentage of adults (aged 19+) that meet Chief 
Medical Officer recommendations for physical 
activity (150+ moderate intensity equivalent 
minutes per week).



5

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Total number of arrests instigated 
by CCTV this month 72 78 27 17 19 13 76  Outcomes remain stable.

Total number of arrests 
supported by CCTV this month 59 58 21 12 27 21 81  Outcomes remain stable.

Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime 
(DTAC)

104 116 100 83 83 83 83  

There has been some new take up from 
businesses but the overall figure remains reduced 
due to business closures and financial constraints 
on some SME's. This remains a challenge. The 
new DTAC Intelligence Manager started in April 
2019. 

Number of Dartford Town Against 
Crime (DTAC) interventions 
against persistent offenders

22 14 3 3 3 1 10  

We are continuing to use Community Protection 
Warnings (CPW) instead of DTAC exclusions 
which are non-enforceable. This is proving to be 
a far better and more strategic approach which 
has a legislative framework to support it. 

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 379 50 136 108 49 343  This continues to be a highly effective tool in 

tackling ASB across the district.

Number of Community Protection 
Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 46 13 32 18 5 68  

The lower numbers of CPN's (against CPW's) 
reflects the effectiveness of Community 
Protection Warnings.

Number of Public Space 
Protection Order Enforcement 
Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 0 1 0 0 0 1  

The performance reflects the vulnerability of the 
enforcement principally laying with another 
agency (Police).

Number of Acceptable Behaviour 
Agreements issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18

N/A 27 3 3 0 0 6

Whilst the CSU work closely with the Police in 
identifying when the use of an ABA is 
appropriate, it remains an exclusively Police task 
to decide to proceed, issue and then monitor the 
agreement. The Council use Community 
Protection Warnings and Notices to respond to 
the types of behaviour that an ABA tackles, but 
these are limited to those over the age of 18. 
ABA's tend to be aimed at those under 18 years.



6

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19
Q2 

2018/19
Q3 

2018/19
Q4 

2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Percentage of High risk 
(categories A & B) food hygiene 
inspections due and completed 
(cumulative)

100% 100% 100% 50% 100% 100% 100% 100% All high risk food premises have been inspected 
as scheduled.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of reported anti-social 
behaviour incidents in the 
Borough by the Police

2,982 2,135 461 526 357 406 1,750  

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home 
Office crime counting rules, (effectively making 
year on year comparisons impossible) this will no 
longer be reported on via Pentana. The difference 
between crimes reported to the Police and 
statistics gathered by the British Crime survey are 
markedly different.  A full explanation has been 
submitted to both the DBC Community Safety 
Partnership and Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

The average results of Nitrogen 
Dioxide levels from all automatic 
air quality monitoring stations in 
the Borough (micrograms per m2)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 43.1 33.1 38.6 44.2 44.9 40.2  Air temperature and climatic conditions create 

increase in levels from the summer.

Number of households taking part 
in energy efficiency initiatives in 
the Borough

571 241 60 108 124 58 350  Very positive outcome - well up on last years out 
turn.

Number of households taking part 
in green bin (garden waste) 6,141 5,740 5,881 6,043 6,066 6,055 6,011 6,000 Target has been slightly exceeded but will aim to 

add more when new contractor takes over.



7

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19
Q2 

2018/19
Q3 

2018/19
Q4 

2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

service

Number of fly tipping incidents 159 2,560 835 653 470 712 2,670 Number of incidents per month fluctuates but still 
remains high.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 58 14 11 21 18 64 Number of reported incidents per month remains 
very low.

Percentage of household waste 
going to landfill 1.7% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4%  Amount of DBC waste being sent to landfill is 

very low.

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

No of households on the housing 
register 1,064 1,134 1,137 1,106 854 785 785  The number is slightly down following verification 

checks.

No of households living in 
temporary accommodation 107 108 93 82 64 69 69  

The number of families placed in temporary 
accommodation is down significantly when 
compared to previous years. This is due to the 
team’s successful implementation of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act and the number of 
homeless prevention actions delivered.

Number of households where 
homelessness has been 
prevented

50 78 61 53 84 17 215  

A very positive outcome as we come to the end of 
the first year of the Homelessness Reduction Act. 
More homeless preventions has a positive knock 
on effect on temporary accommodation 
placements.

Number of service requests 
completed for Private Sector 
Housing

429 234 85 63 71 94 313 250

More service requests have been dealt with this 
year than last which is a positive in terms of the 
amount of probate sector properties that the team 
have been able to ensure are in good condition 
and tenancies sustained.

Percentage of repairs completed 
in time 90.92% 87.62% 91.79% 96.46% 90.49% 87.51% 91.40% 98.00% Annual target shows improvement on last year.



8

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19
Q2 

2018/19
Q3 

2018/19
Q4 

2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Average time taken to re-let local 
authority housing (in calendar 
days) (EXCL major works)

20.41 21.02 24.35 24.4 19.36 25.01 23.58 20

Disappointing end of year figure largely due to the 
unprecedented amount of voids that required 
extensive works encountered in the last half of 
2018/19, far above experience in previous years. 
Void rent loss however was within target.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of affordable homes 
delivered (gross) 239 173 52 46 75 30 203 140 Annual target has been exceeded which is a 

positive outcome.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162 1,031 Not measured for Quarters 1,010  

Another year of strong house delivery across the 
Borough, which is expected to continue over 
2019/20, taking into account the number of 
homes under construction in April 2019. Delivery 
at Ebbsfleet Garden City represented 13% of the 
overall figure. The proportion of housing delivered 
in Ebbsfleet Garden City is expected to rise in 
future year, as delivery levels at other sites 
across the Borough decrease, due to many of 
them of them reaching completion or final phases 
of development.

Number of service requests 
raised for Private Sector Housing

New indicator 
for 2017/18 272 78 100 83 77 338 Service requests are up significantly on last year.

No of private sector vacant 
dwellings that are returned into 
occupation or demolished

101 100 20 19 40 21 100 100 The annual target has been achieved.



9

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Percentage of in-year Business 
Rates collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 98.9% 32.0% 57.4% 83.5% 99.3% 99.3% 98.9%

This percentage represents the amount collected 
net of refunds as a percentage of the net 
collectible debit.  This is compared to the 
percentage achieved the previous year.

The figure reported to Government in the QRC 
return is calculated differently and the final 
percentage is net of credits on the system. The 
final figure is usually lower due to the level of 
credits that are created at the end of the year but 
cannot be refunded.  The final QRC figure is 
98.57%.

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 97% 29.2% 56.5% 84% 96.8% 96.8% 96.9%

This percentage represents the amount collected 
net of refunds as a percentage of the net 
collectible debit.

The figure reported to Government in the QRC 
return is calculated differently and the final 
percentage may be higher or lower.  The final 
QRC figure is 96.92%.

Average time taken to process a 
new claim for Housing Benefit 
(cumulative)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 22 28 26 25 23 23 23

Extra agency staff taken on in quarter 4, to help 
whilst we have been recruiting into vacancies, 
has meant we have met our quarter 4 and yearly 
target.

Percentage of supplier payments 
made within 30 days of receipt of 
invoice

99.02% 99.35% 99.01% 99% 99.68% 98.84% 99.18% Target achieved. Low numbers of late payments 
throughout the year.

Rent Collection and Arrears 
Recovery - rents collected as a 
proportion of rents owed

97.67% 97.8% 91.9% 95.36% 97.13% 97.29% 97.29% 98.1%
Positive outcome for the year despite the 
challenges faced and the changes to the welfare 
system.

Number of phone calls received 
by the Council 577,329 518,358 134,073 129,695 115,933 122,540 502,241

Overall and year on year, the volume of calls 
received into the Council continue to reduce.  
This is a result of improved customer 



10

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19
Q2 

2018/19
Q3 

2018/19
Q4 

2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

management and increased self-serve & channel 
shift options available through DBC website.     

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to short term (<4 
weeks) illness per employee

4.39 3.18 1.08 1.04 1.46 1.11 4.69 4
Annual short term sickness rate slightly higher 
than target. Wellbeing work to try and reduce 
absence continues.

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to long term (>4 
weeks) illness per employee

2.38 3.15 2.1 1.69 1.14 1.38 6.31 4.02
Annual long term sickness rate higher than target. 
Wellbeing work to try and reduce absence 
continues.

Number of visits to DBC website 821,974 829,677 226,842 249,098 213,795 206,247 895,982  The number of visits to DBC's website is in line 
with usual levels.

 


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on 11 April 2019
	7 Land at Stone Lodge - Appropriation for Planning Purposes
	Appendix A - Stone Lodge site plan

	8 Street Naming and Numbering - Eastern Quarry Phase 6B
	Appendix A Street Naming

	9 Dartford Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 - May 2019 Report
	Appendix A Dartford Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 Report

	10 Corporate Plan Key Actions and Performance Indicators Report - 4th Quarter
	APPENDIX A - Corporate Plan Key Actions (Q4 2018-19)
	APPENDIX B - Corporate Plan Performance Indicators (Q4 - 2018-19)


